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18 YING LI INTERNATIONAL REAL ESTATE LIMITED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Following the completion of the reverse takeover (RTO) by Fortune Court Group on 26 September 2008, a new Board of Directors was 
reconstituted to provide leadership and direction to the Company. The Board and its Management are committed to maintain a high 
standard of corporate governance and working towards achieving full compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 so as to 
ensure greater corporate transparency and protection of shareholders’ interest. 

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of Its Affairs

The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Group including setting its strategic direction, establishing goals for 
Management and monitoring the achievement of these goals. The Board’s decision or approval is specifically required for matters involving 
corporate strategies and management plans; mergers and acquisitions; major funding and investment proposals; material acquisitions and 
disposals of assets; nominations to the Board; issuance of shares and dividend proposals.

The Board has delegated certain functions to various Board Committees, namely, the Audit Committee (“AC”), the Nominating Committee 
(“NC”) and the Remuneration Committee (“RC”). These committees function within clearly defined terms of reference which are reviewed 
on a regular basis.

During the last financial year, the Board held three meetings and since the completion of the RTO, the Board convened two meetings 
in the last quarter of 2008. Full attendance was recorded at each and every meeting. The Company Secretary was also present at such 
meetings to record the proceedings. In between the meetings, important matters concerning the Group were put to the Board for its 
decision by circulating resolution-in-writing for the directors’ approval.

Newly appointed directors will be briefed by the Management on the Group’s business activities and governance practices. The 
Management also works closely with professionals to provide the Board with regular updates on key changes to relevant laws, regulations 
and accounting standards.

The number of Board, NC, AC and RC meetings held in FY2008 and the attendance of each Board member at those meetings were as 
follows:

Board 
of Directors                                                                                                    

Nominating 
Committee

Audit 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

                                                                                                    Number of meetings

                                                                                                     Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Lim Hong Ching 3 3 1 1 2* 2* 1* 1*

Yeo Sock Kon 3 3 1* 1* 2* 2* 1* 1*

Bek Yeok Siew 3 3 1* 1* 2 2 1 1

Chew Thiam Keng 3 3 1 1 2 2 1 1

Ong Chong Beng 3 3 1 1 2 2 1 1

Christopher Chong Meng Tak 5 5 1 1 1 1 1 1

Lui Seng Fatt 5 5 1 1 1 1 1 1

Fang Ming 2 2 1 1 1* 1* 1* 1*

Xie Xin 2 2 - - 1* 1* - -

Xu Li 2 2 - - 1* 1* - -

Lee Chong Ming 2 2 1* 1* 1* 1* 1* 1*

He Zhao Ju @ Danny Ho 2 2 - - 1* 1* - -

Xiao Zu Xiu 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1

* Attended the Meetings as invitee

The Company arranged its legal advisors to brief all newly appointed Directors on their duties and obligations.
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Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

The members of the Board and respective committees are as follows:

The Board currently comprises eight members, three of whom are independent directors. The NC reviews the composition of the Board on 

an annual basis and applies the Code’s definition of what qualifies as an independent director in its review. Key information of the Board 

members is given in the Directors’ Profile section of this Annual Report.

At the date of this report, members of the Board are:

From Jan 2008 to 26 September 2008:

                                                                                                                 

Board

Nominating

Committee

Audit 

Committee

Remuneration

Committee

                                                                                             

Non-independent Directors

Lim Hong Ching (executive)                      Chairman Member

Yeo Sock Kon (executive)                 Member

Bek Yeok Siew (non-executive)                                                                 Member Member Member

Independent Directors

Chew Thiam Keng                                                                                Member Member Member Chairman

Ong Chong Beng                                                                       Member Chairman Chairman Member

Christopher Chong Meng Tak           Member

Lui Seng Fatt                                 Member

With effect from 26 September 2008, the various Board Committees have been re-constituted as follows:

                                                                                                                 

Board

Nominating

Committee

Audit 

Committee

Remuneration

Committee

                                                                                             

Non-independent Directors

Fang Ming (executive)                      Chairman Member

Xie Xin (executive)                 Member

Xu Li (non-executive)                                                                 Member

Independent Directors

Lee Chong Ming (non-executive)                                                                                Member

He Zhao Ju @ Danny Ho (non-executive)                                                                       Member

Christopher Chong Meng Tak (independent) Member Member Chairman Member

Lui Seng Fatt (independent)                                Member Chairman Member Member

Xiao Zu Xiu (independent) Member Chairman Member Chairman

The Board is of the opinion that its current composition of eight directors is appropriate for effective decision making taking into 

consideration the scope and nature of the Group’s business operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Fang Ming is both the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company. The Board is of the view that 

currently, it is not necessary to segregate the roles of the Chairman and CEO taking into consideration the size, scope and nature of the 

Group’s operations, and the strong element of independence of the Board.

As the CEO, Mr Fang Ming is responsible for the overall management, sales and marketing functions, strategic decisions and development 

of the Group.

Mr Fang Ming’s role as the Chairman pertaining to Board proceedings include:

Scheduling of meetings that enable the Board to perform its duties responsibly while not interfering with the flow of the Company’s •	

operations;

Exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of information between Management and the Board; and•	

Assisting in ensuring compliance with the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.•	

Although the roles and responsibilities of both the Chairman and the CEO are vested in Mr Fang Ming, the Board believes there are 

adequate safeguards in place against an uneven concentration of power and authority in one individual, as major decisions are made in 

consultation with the Board, his performance and appointment to the Board is reviewed periodically by the NC and his remuneration 

package is reviewed periodically by the RC.

As recommended by the Code, the Board has appointed Mr Christopher Chong Meng Tak and Mr Lui Seng Fatt as the lead and Co-lead 

independent director who should be available to shareholders where they have concerns which contact through normal channels of the 

Chairman and CEO or the Management has failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

Principle 4: Board Membership

The composition of the Nominating Committee (NC) was reconstituted on 26 September 2008 upon the completion of the RTO. The NC 

comprises the following four members, a majority of whom, including the Chairman, are independent Directors:

Fang Ming 	 (Executive Director, Chairman)

Xiao Zu Xiu 	 (Independent Director)

Christopher Chong Meng Tak 	 (Independent Director)

Lui Seng Fatt 	 (Independent Director)

Duties and responsibilities of the NC include:

Re-nomination of Directors having regard to the Director’s contribution and performance;•	

Determining annually whether or not a Director is independent; and•	

Deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director of the Company, •	

particularly when the Director has multiple board representations.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all Directors are required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-

election at regular intervals and at least once every three years. A newly appointed director must also subject himself for retirement and 

re-election at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) immediately following his appointment.
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Key information of each Director is given in the Directors’ Profile section of this Annual Report.

Principle 5: Board Performance

The NC will decide on how the Board’s performance is to be evaluated and propose objective performance criteria, subject to the approval 

of the Board, which address how the Board has enhanced long-term shareholders’ value. The Board, through the NC, will use its best effort 

to ensure that directors appointed to the Board, whether individually or collectively, possess the experience, knowledge and expertise 

critical to the Group’s business. It will also ensure that each director, with his special contributions, brings to the Board an independent 

and objective perspective to enable sound, balanced and well-considered decisions to be made. Each member of the NC shall abstain 

from voting on any resolutions and making any recommendations and/or participating in any deliberations of the NC in respect of the 

assessment of his performance or re-nomination as Director of the Company.

During the last financial year, the NC has met once and since the completion of the RTO, the NC convened one meeting in the last quarter 

of 2008 with fill attendance recorded at each and every meeting to recommend Directors to the Board for re-election and to review the 

independence of the Independent Directors and the terms of reference of the NC revised in accordance with the Code.

Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, the Company will provide complete, adequate and timely information 

to the Board on matters that require its decision as well as circulate reports relating to operational and financial performance of the Group 

prior to Board meetings.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior management and the Company Secretary at all times in 

carrying out their duties. Under the direction of the Executive Chairman, the Company Secretary’s responsibilities include ensuring good 

information flows within the Board and its committees and between senior management and non-executive Directors, as well as assisting 

with professional development as required. The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings, and is also responsible for ensuring that 

board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

The Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, take independent professional advice, if necessary, at 

the Company’s expense.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

The Remuneration Committee (RC) has also been reconstituted and it comprises entirely non-executive Directors and are independent:

Xiao Zu Xiu 	 (Independent Director)

Christopher Chong Meng Tak 	 (Independent Director)

Lui Seng Fatt 	 (Independent Director)

The RC is responsible for recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and key executives, and to determine 

specific remuneration packages for the Executive Directors. The RC’s recommendations are submitted for endorsement by the entire 

Board. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind 

are covered by the RC.

Each member of the RC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and making recommendations and/or participating in any deliberations 

of the RC in respect of his remuneration package.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the last financial year, the RC has met once and since the completion of the RTO, the RC convened one meeting in the last quarter 

of 2008 with fill attendance recorded at each and every meeting to recommend to the Board, the directors’ fees and key executives’ 

bonuses payable for FY2007, and to review the terms of reference of the RC revised in accordance with the Code.

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration 

In setting remuneration packages, the Company takes into account the pay and employment conditions within the industry and in 

comparable companies as well as the performance of the Group and individual Executive Director.

No director or member of the RC has been involved in deciding his own remuneration package. The total remuneration mix for the CEO, 

executive directors, executive officers and key employees of the Group comprises three key components, namely, basic salary, annual 

performance incentive and other benefits including benefits-in-kind.

None of the Non-Executive and Independent Directors has any service agreement with the Company. They are paid directors’ fees, which 

are determined by the Board appropriate to their level of contributions taking into account the effort and time spent including their 

responsibilities. The fees are subject to approval by shareholders at each AGM.

The Company does not have any employee share schemes.

Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration

Directors’ and Executive Officers’ Remuneration

The estimated amount of compensation to be paid to the Directors and the Executive Officers for services rendered to the Enlarged Group 

in remuneration bands for the whole of FY2008 is set out as follows:

Directors	 FY2008

Fang Ming	 Band I

Xie Xin	 Band I

Xu Li	 Band I

Lee Chong Min	 Band I

He Zhao Ju @ Danny Ho	 Band I

Christopher Chong Meng Tak	 Band I

Lui Seng Fatt	 Band I

Xiao Zu Xiu	 Band I

Executive Officers
Lim Boon Ping	 Band I

Chen Rong Hua	 Band I

Zheng Sheng Qing	 Band I

Guo Hong Qing	 Band I

Notes:
Band I : Compensation of between S$1 to S$250,000 per annum.

Band II : Compensation of between S$250,001 to S$500,000 per annum.

None of the employees who are immediate family members of a Director or the Chief Executive Officer received more than $150,000 in 

remuneration during FY2008.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability

In presenting the annual financial statements and announcements of half yearly financial results to shareholders, it is the aim of the 

Board to provide shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects. The 

Management currently provides the AC and the Board with detailed management accounts of the Group’s performance, position and 

prospects on a regular basis.

Principle 11: Audit Committee

Principle 12: Internal Controls

Principle 13: Internal Audit

Ying Li’s internal policy requires the Audit Committee (AC) to have at least 3 members, all of whom are non-executive and the majority 

must be independent. The composition of the AC was reconstituted on 26 September 2008 upon the completion of RTO. The AC consists 

of 3 directors, Mr Christopher Chong, the Chairman of the AC, is the Lead Independent Director. The other members of the AC are Co-Lead 

Independent Director, Mr Lui Seng Fatt and Independent Director, Mr Xiao Zu Xiu. 

The AC has written terms of reference that describe the responsibilities of its members. The AC assists the Board in discharging their 

responsibilities to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets, maintain adequate accounting records, develop 

and maintain effective systems of internal control, with the overall objective of ensuring that the Management creates and maintains an 

effective control environment in the Company. The AC also provides a channel of communication between the Board, the Management 

and the external auditors on matters relating to audit.

The Board is of the view that the AC members are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities.

The AC has scheduled a minimum of two meetings in each financial year, inter alia, for the following purposes:

Reviewing the audit plans and scope of audit examination of the external auditors, and evaluating their cost effectiveness, •	

independence and objectivity, and the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by them;

Reviewing the half yearly and annual financial statements before submission to the Board for approval;•	

Reviewing the assistance given by Management to the external auditors to ensure that no restrictions are being placed on the work •	

of the external auditors;

Appraising and reporting to the Board on the audits undertaken by the external auditors, adequacy of disclosure of information, and •	

the appropriateness and quality of the system of internal controls;

Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving •	

their remuneration and terms of engagement;

Reviewing interested person transactions, as defined in the SGX-ST Listing Manual; and•	

Considering other matters as requested by the Board.•	

The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, full access to and co-operation by the Management, 

full discretion to invite any executive director or officer to attend its meetings, and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its 

functions properly.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the last financial year, the AC held two meetings and since the completion of the RTO in September 2008, the AC met one with 

full attendance at each and every meeting.

The AC assists the Board in ensuring that the Management maintains a sound internal control framework, but recognizes that no cost 

effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities as a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the 

risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement 

or loss.

The Company recognizes the importance of establishing an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits, 

and currently, the AC enquires and relies on reports from the external auditors on any material non-compliance and internal control 

weaknesses. The AC has reviewed with the external auditors their findings of the existence and adequacy of material accounting controls 

and procedures as part of its audit for the financial year under review, and the Board is satisfied that there are adequate internal controls 

to meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment.

At the February 2009 AC meeting, the Board has recommended to out source the internal audit function. The internal audit function 

charter is to review key business processes and internal control measures.

The Group has established a whistle-blowing procedure, endorsed by the AC, where employees may, in confidence, raise concerns about 

possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting, fraudulent acts and other matters to any member of the AC, and ensuring that 

arrangements are in place for the independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow up action.

During the current financial year, there was no non-audit fees paid to the auditors of the Company and the AC is satisfied with the 

independence of the external auditors.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders

Principle 15: Shareholder Participation

The Company strives to engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders, and be as descriptive, detailed and 

forthcoming as possible in disclosing information.

The Company does not practice selective disclosure. Its financial results, major developments and other price sensitive information are 

released through SGXNet on a timely basis for dissemination to shareholders and the public in accordance with the requirements of the 

SGX-ST. All shareholders of the Company will receive a copy of the Annual Report and Notice of AGM. The Notice will also be advertised 

in the newspapers and made available on the SGX-ST’s website and SGXNet.

At AGMs, shareholders are given the opportunity to express their views and ask the directors or Management questions regarding the 

Company. The Chairmen of the NC, RC and AC are available at the AGMs to address shareholders’ questions relating to the work of these 

committees. The external auditors are also present to address shareholders’ queries relating to the conduct of audit and the preparation 

and content of the auditors’ report.

The Company’s Articles of Association allow a member of the Company to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote instead 

of the member.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted its own Internal Code of Best Practices on dealings in the Company’s securities.



25ANNUAL REPORT 2008

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company prohibits its officers from dealing in the Company’s shares when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive 

information; on short-term considerations; and during the period commencing one month before the announcement of the Company’s 

financial results and ending on the date of the particular announcement.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Interest person is a director, executive officer or controlling shareholders (and his associates) of the Company, its subsidiaries and 

associated companies. The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in 

a timely manner to the AC and that transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and are not prejudicial to the interest of the 

shareholders.

The director concerned will not participate and is refraining from the approval of the transactions.

Disclosure of interested person transactions is set up on page 66 of this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors submit this annual report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and 
balance sheet of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2008. 

DIRECTORS

The directors in office at the date of this report are: 

Fang Ming	 (appointed on 26 September 2008)
Xie Xin	 (appointed on 26 September 2008)
Xu Li	 (appointed on 26 September 2008)
Lee Chong Min	 (appointed on 26 September 2008)
He Zhao Ju @ Danny Ho	 (appointed on 26 September 2008)
Xiao Zu Xiu	 (appointed on 26 September 2008)
Christopher Chong Meng Tak
Lui Seng Fatt
Lim Hong Ching	 (Resigned on 27 September 2008)
Yeo Sock Kon	 (Resigned on 27 September 2008)
Bek Yeok Siew	 (Resigned on 27 September 2008)
Chew Thiam Keng	 (Resigned on 27 September 2008)
Ong Chong Beng	 (Resigned on 27 September 2008)

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES and DEBENTURES 

During and at the end of the financial year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangement the object of 
which was to enable the directors to acquire benefits through the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or of any other 
corporate body other than as disclosed in this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register of directors’ shareholdings required 
to be kept under section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares and share options of the Company and related 
corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below: 

Direct Interest Deemed Interest 

Name of director

At the beginning 
of financial

 year or date of
 appointment

At the end of
 financial year

At the beginning
 of financial

 year or date of
 appointment

At the end of
 financial year

Ordinary shares of the Company
	 Fang Ming - -       	 941,739,014 	(2) 	 941,739,014 	(2)

	 Xie Xin (1) - - 941,739,014 941,739,014

	 Xu Li (1) - - 	 941,739,014 	(2) 	 941,739,014 	(2)

Ordinary shares of USD1 each of the ultimate 
holding company (Newest Luck Holdings Limited)
	 Fang Ming 8,000 8,000  - -

	 Xie Xin (1) - -             2,000     2,000

	 Xu Li (1) 2,000 2,000 - -
	

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests between the end of the financial year and 21 January 2009. 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES (CONT’D)

Notes:

(1)	 Mr Xie Xin is the husband of Miss Xu Li. Mr Xie Xin is deemed interested in the shares of the Company that Miss Xu Li has an 

interest in.

(2)	 Mr Fang Ming and Miss Xu Li are deemed interested in the shares of the Company through their shareholdings in Newest Luck.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share options, 

warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, or date of appointment 

if later, or at the end of the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

Except for salaries, bonuses and fees and those benefits that are disclosed in this report and in Note 17 to the financial statement, since 

the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a 

contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a 

company in which the director has a substantial financial interest. 

SHARE OPTIONS

During the financial year, there were:

(i)	 No options granted by the Company to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company.

(ii)	 No shares issued by the virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company under option.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises the following members:

Christopher Chong Meng Tak (Chairman)

Xiao Zu Xiu 

Lui Seng Fatt 

The audit committee performs the functions set out in Section 201B(5) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (“the Act”), the SGX Listing Manual 

and the Code of Corporate Governance. In performing its functions, the committee reviewed the following:

-	 overall scope of both the internal and external audits and the assistance given by the Company’s officers to the auditors.  It met 

with the Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss the results of their respective examinations and their evaluation of 

the Company’s system of internal accounting controls;

-	 quarterly financial statements, the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2008 as well as the auditors’ report thereon; and

-	 interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont’d)

The committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It has full authority and 

the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The committee also recommends the appointment of the 

external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board of 

Directors that the auditors, Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General 

Meeting of the Company.

AUDITORS

Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton, Certified Public Accountants, have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as Auditors. 

On behalf of the board of directors:

				  

Fang Ming Xie Xin

Director Director

Date: 16 March 2009
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The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the provisions 

of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (“the Act”) and International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, 

implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 

estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

In the opinion of the directors, the accompanying balance sheets of the Company and the Group, consolidated income statement, 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement, together with the notes thereon, are drawn up 

so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the results of the 

business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date and at that date of this statement there 

are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the board of directors: 

Fang Ming Xie Xin

Director Director

Date: 16 March 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the members of Ying Li International Real Estate Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Ying Li International Real Estate Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(“the Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2008, the consolidated income 
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). This responsibility includes: 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a)	 the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act and IFRS so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and 
the Group as at 31 December 2008 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that 
date; and

(b)	 the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

The financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 were audited by another firm of auditors whose 
report dated 17 March 2008 express an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

Date: 16 March 2009
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Group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

(Unaudited

pro-forma)

Note RMB RMB RMB RMB

ASSETS          

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3  3,749,353          3,291,142 16,196 4,838,825

Investment properties 4 1,279,949,000   1,330,407,000 - -

Investment in subsidiaries 20 - - 2,768,750,572 13,345,869

1,283,698,353 1,333,698,142 2,768,766,768 18,184,694

Current assets

Inventories - - - 6,758,242

Land for development 5 572,735,709 203,706,310 - -

Development properties 6 105,550,069 31,599,710 - -

Trade and other receivables 7 24,151,146 107,156,505 2,797,549 11,284,273

Cash at bank - restricted 8 18,159,921 12,091,948 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 8 81,981,513 21,309,428 25,860,137 76,388,037

802,578,358 375,863,901 28,657,686 94,430,552

TOTAL ASSETS    2,086,276,711 1,709,562,043 2,797,424,454 112,615,246

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

Non-current liabilities

Deferred taxation 9 190,676,247 203,290,746 - -

Borrowings 10 269,250,000 213,140,000 - -

459,926,247 416,430,746 - -

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 208,131,699 178,918,305 155,314,283 13,615,826

Amount owing to a director 12 11,904,937 12,640,642 - -

Provision for taxation 68,618,523 54,648,495 - 962,078

Borrowings 10 28,170,000 256,340,000 - 37,914

316,825,159 502,547,442 155,314,283 14,615,818

Capital and reserves

Capital contribution 13 2,637,682,042 10,738 2,637,682,042 78,761,917

Reserves (1,977,589,655) 463,058 427,773 -

Retained profits 626,179,297 790,110,059 4,000,356 19,237,511

1,286,271,684 790,583,855 2,642,110,171 97,999,428

Minority interests      23,253,621 - - -

Total equity 1,309,525,305 790,583,855 2,642,110,171 97,999,428

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,086,276,711 1,709,562,043 2,797,424,454 112,615,246
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

1 Jan to
 31 Dec 2008

13 Mar to 
31 Dec 2007
(Unaudited
pro-forma)

1 Jan to 
31 Dec 2007
(Unaudited 
pro-forma)

Note RMB RMB RMB

Revenue 14 86,724,359 90,633,240 245,929,899

Cost of sales (60,680,069) (47,275,598) (167,879,166)

Gross profit 26,044,290 43,357,642 78,050,733

Other income 15 539,884,958 13,133 13,133

Selling expenses (7,233,611) (4,691,930) (6,311,531)

Administrative expenses (22,732,097) (6,438,284) (8,640,000)

Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties 4 (50,458,000) 834,716,036 834,716,036

Finance costs (4,706,849) (295,662) (328,452)

Other operating expenses 16 (125,396,822) - -

Profit before tax 17 355,401,869 866,660,935 897,499,919

Taxation 9 165,361 (207,229,351) (217,406,215)

Profit for the year 355,567,230 659,431,584 680,093,704

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 357,438,609 659,431,584 680,093,704

Minority interests (1,871,379) - -

  355,567,230 659,431,584 680,093,704

Earnings per share (RMB)

	 Basic 18 0.63 n.m. n.m.

	 Diluted 18 0.63 n.m. n.m.

Note:

The acquisition of Fortune Court Group on 26 September 2008 has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition. The 2008 Group’s 

consolidated income statement is presented as a continuation of Fortune Court Group’s financial results and operations. On 12 March 

2008, Fortune Court acquired Chongqing Yingli Real Estate Development Co., Ltd (Chongqing Yingli). The  inclusion of the 9 months pro-

forma income statement from 13 March to 31 December 2007 is to show the corresponding period results. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

1 Jan to 
31 Dec 2008

13 Mar to 
31 Dec 2007                
(Unaudited 
pro-forma)

1 Jan to 31 
Dec  2007           

(Unaudited 
pro-forma)

Note RMB RMB RMB
OPERATING ACTIVITIES        
Profit before taxation 355,401,869 866,660,935 897,499,919
Adjustments for:
	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3 918,654 397,173 733,256
	 Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties 4 50,458,000 (834,716,036) (834,716,036)
	 Negative goodwill 15,20 (485,395,842) - -
	 Goodwill written off 16 109,372,659 - -
	 Interest expense 4,706,849 295,662 328,452
	 Interest income 15 (545,982) (13,133) (13,133)
	 Exchange difference on translation 9,891,017 - -

44,807,224 32,624,601 63,832,458
Operating profit before working capital changes
	 (Increase) / decrease in development properties (64,209,104) 79,885,560 (94,095,816)
	 (Increase)/decrease in land for development (161,214,143) (78,486,157) 166,526,321
	 Decrease in trade and other receivables 147,819,265 48,867,286 18,467,353
	 Decrease in trade and other payables (18,209,948) (139,187,186) (177,849,718)
Cash used in operations (51,006,706) (56,295,896) (23,119,402)

Interest paid (27,556,562) (25,212,608) (32,334,272)
Interest received 545,982 13,133 13,133
Income tax paid (2,604,432) (952,841) (2,897,979)
Net cash used in operating activities (80,621,718) (82,448,212) (58,338,520)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3 (854,729) (2,149,776) (2,166,276)
Increase in investment properties - (7,032,383) (7,032,383)
Net proceed from disposal of assets and liabilities 19 12,662,959 - -
Acquisition of Subsidiaries 20 (157,607,791) - -
Net cash used in investing activities (145,799,561) (9,182,159) (9,198,659)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Proceed from issuance of shares after reverse acquisition 

adjustments and expenses 555,221,337 - -
Cash at bank - restricted (6,067,973) 1,155,412 254,544
Loan from bank - 113,350,000 95,350,000
Advance to holding company - (75,654,564) (75,654,564)
Advance to related company - (7,527,467) (7,527,467)
Advance from related company - 36,660 36,660
Repayment to holding company - (11,292,763) (11,292,763)
Repayment of bank loan (262,060,000) - -
Net cash from financing activities 287,093,364 20,067,278 1,166,410

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 60,672,085 (71,563,093) (66,370,769)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 21,309,428 92,872,521 87,680,197
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 8 81,981,513 21,309,428 21,309,428
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements. 

1.	 General

	 Ying Li International Real Estate Ltd (the “Company”) formerly known as Showy International Ltd (“Showy”), is a limited liability 

company, which is incorporated in Singapore and listed on SGX Sesdaq on 28 July 2003.

	 On 22 October 2008, the Company issued 2.435 million new shares at RMB1.38633 (S$0.30) per share to comply with the 

shareholding and distribution requirements of the Listing Manual and to achieve a 15% public float and to have the shares of 

the Company held by at least 1,000 shareholders for Mainboard listings. The Company was upgraded to SGX Mainboard on 31 

October 2008.

	 Ying Li International Real Estate Ltd (the “Company”) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and has its registered office at 

35 Sungei Kadut Street 4, Singapore 729057. The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. 

The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the financial statements. The Company’s shares are 

listed on the Main Board of the SGX-ST.

	 Its principal place of business is located at Chongqing, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) at Level 4 Tower A, Minsheng 

Mansion, 181 Minsheng Road, Yuzhong District, Chongqing 400010.

	 Reverse acquisition accounting

	 On 26 September 2008, the Company completed the acquisition of the Fortune Court Group from Newest Luck Holdings Ltd 

(“Newest Luck”) for a purchase consideration of RMB2,584 million (S$545.4 million) (“Acquisition”). The Fortune Court Group 

comprises the following 3 companies:

(1) 	 Fortune Court Holdings Ltd (“Fortune Court”)

(2) 	 Chongqing Yingli Real Estate Development Co., Ltd (“Chongqing Yingli”)

(3) 	 Chongqing San Ya Wan Aquatic Products Integrative Trading Market Development Co., Ltd (“San Ya Wan”)

	 The purchase consideration was satisfied by the allotment and issuance of 1,652.7 million new shares in the capital of the 

Company at RMB1.563969 (S$0.33) per share. Following the allotment and issuance of the shares, Newest Luck emerged as 

the single largest shareholder of the Company, owning 60.9% equity interest in the Company, thereby becoming the holding 

corporation of the Company.

	 Concurrent with the Acquisition, the Company completed the disposal of its entire previous existing business undertaking (note 

19), which marked the exit of the Group from the bathroom and kitchen products and accessories.

	 Upon completion of the above exercises, the Company became a property development and investment company in Singapore. 

Chongqing Yingli engages principally in the development, sale, rental, management and long-term ownership of high quality 

commercial and residential properties in Chongqing. 

	 At Group level

	 The Acquisition has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition in accordance with the requirement of IFRS 3 “Business 

Combinations” and the legal subsidiary (i.e. Fortune Court) is considered the acquirer for accounting purposes. Accordingly, the 

Group’s consolidated balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year 

ended 31 December 2008 have been presented as a continuation of the Fortune Court Group’s financial results and operations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

1.   	 General (cont’d)

	 At Group level (cont’d)

	 Since such consolidated financial statements represents a continuation of the financial statements of the Fortune Court 

Group’s:

(a) 	 the assets and liabilities of the Fortune Court Group are recognised and measured in the consolidated balance sheet at 

their pre-combination carrying amounts;

(b) 	 the retained earnings and other equity balances recognised in the consolidated financial statements are the retained 

earnings and other equity balances of the Fortune Court Group immediately before the business combination;

(c)	 the amount recognised as issued equity instruments in the consolidated financial statements is determined by adding to 

the issued equity of the Fortune Court Group immediately before the business combination, the costs of the combination 

of the acquisition. However, the equity structure appearing in the consolidated financial statements (i.e. the number and 

type of equity instruments issued) reflect the equity structure of the legal parent (i.e. the Company), including the equity 

instruments issued by the legal parent (i.e. the Company) to effect the combination; and

(d) 	 the comparative figures presented in these consolidated financial statements are prepared on a pro-forma basis. They 

include the consolidated financial statement of the Fortune Court Group which include Fortune Court and Chongqing 

Yingli assuming that the present structure existed during the previous financial year. The comparative figures for 13 March 

2007 to 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007 are unaudited.

	 Consolidated financial statements prepared following a reverse acquisition shall reflect the fair values of the assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities of the legal parent (i.e. the acquiree for accounting purposes). Therefore, the cost of the business 

combination for the acquisition is allocated to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the legal parent that 

satisfy the recognition criteria at their fair values on 26 September 2008.

	 Any excess of the cost of the reverse acquisition over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair values of the acquire is immediately 

written off in the income statement.

	 The Company and its subsidiaries before the acquisition of the Fortune Court Group being the acquiree for reverse acquisition 

accounting purposes, contributed accumulated losses amounting to approximately RMB13,410,508 to the Group during the 

year. 

	 At Company level

	 Reverse acquisition accounting applies only at the consolidated financial statements at the Group level. Therefore, in the 

Company’s financial statements, the investment in the legal subsidiaries (i.e. Fortune Court Group) is accounted for at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s balance sheet.

	 In the Company’s (the legal parent) separate financial statements, the investment in the Fortune Court Group (the legal subsidiary) 

is accounted for in accordance with the requirement of IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.	S ignificant accounting policies

2.1	 Basis of preparation

	 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) including 

related Interpretations promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial statements 

have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

	 The Group has adopted all the new and amended IAS/IFRSs and IFRICs that are relevant to its operations and effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. The adoption of these new/revised IAS/IFRSs and IFRICs did not result 

in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies nor any significant impact on these financial statements.

	 At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following IAS/IFRSs were issued but not yet effective:

Reference Description Effective date

IAS 1 - 	 Presentation of Financial Statements — Revised presentation

- 	 Presentation of Financial Statements — Amendments relating to 

Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

1 January 2009

1 January 2009

IAS 23 Borrowing Cost (Revised) 1 January 2009

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Revised) 1 January 2009

IFRS 3 Business Combination (Revised) 1 January 2009

IFRS 8 Operating segments 1 January 2009

	 The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of other IAS/IFRSs and IFRICs in future periods will have a material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

	 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements — Revised presentation

	 The revised IAS 1 requires owner and non-owner changes in equity to be presented separately. The statement of changes 

in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single 

line item. In addition, the revised standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of 

income and expense recognised in profit or loss, together with all other items of recognised income and expense, either 

in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The Group is currently evaluating the format to adopt.

	 IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs (Revised)

	 IAS 23 (Revised) will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and eliminates the option 

available under the previous version of IAS 23 to recognise all borrowing costs immediately as an expense. An entity shall 

capitalise borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 

as part of the cost of that asset. As the change in accounting policy is to be applied prospectively, there will be no impact 

on amounts reported for 2008.

	 The Group has already been observing the requirements of the new IAS 23 (Revised) and anticipates that the adoption 

of IAS 1 (Revised) in future periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company in the period of their initial adoption.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

2.	S ignificant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.1 	 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

	 IAS 27- Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Revised)

	 The revised standard introduces changes to the accounting requirements for the loss of control of a subsidiary and for 
changes in the Group’s interest in subsidiaries. Management does not expect the standard to have a material effect on 
the Group’s financial statements.

	 IFRS 3 Business Combination (Revised)

	 The standard is applicable for business combination occurring in reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 
and will be applied prospectively. The new standard introduces changes to the accounting requirements for business 
combinations, but still requires use of the purchase method, and will have a significant effect on business combinations 
occurring in reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

	 IFRS 8 Operating Segments

	 IFRS 8 requires entities to disclose segment information based on the information reviewed by the entity’s chief operating 
decision maker. The impact of this standard on the other segment disclosures is still to be determined. As this is a disclosure 
standard, it will have no impact on the financial position and results of the Group when implemented in 2009.

2.2 	S ignificant accounting estimates and judgements 

	 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the financial year. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may 
differ from those estimates.

	 The critical accounting estimates and assumptions used and area involving a high degree of judgements are described 
below.

	 Carrying value of development properties

	 Significant judgement is required in assessing the recoverability of the carrying value of development properties. Analysis 
has been carried out based on assumptions regarding the selling price and costs of properties. Significant judgement is 
required in determining total costs of properties, including construction costs and variation orders. The Group estimates 
total construction costs based on contracts awarded and the experience of qualified project managers. The Group will also 
closely monitor the property price index and market sentiment, and adjustments will be made in future market activity 
indicates that such adjustments are appropriate.

	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

	 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Management 
estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment to be within 3 to 5 years. The carrying amount of the 
Company’s and the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2008 were RMB16,196 and RMB 3,749,353 
respectively. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful 
lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
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2.2 	S ignificant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

	 Impairment in investment in subsidiaries

	 Determining whether investment in subsidiaries is impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of that investment. 

The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected from the cash-generating 

units and an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash flows. Management has 

evaluated the recoverability of the investment based on such estimates.

	 Valuation of investment properties

	 As disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements, investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation 

performed by an independent professional valuer.  In determining the fair value, the valuer has based this on a method 

of valuation which involves certain estimates.  In relying on the valuation report, the management has exercised their 

judgment and is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of current market conditions.

	 Income tax

	 The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in determining 

the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues 

based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 

the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made.

	 Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

	 Allowances for bad and doubtful debts are based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade and other receivables.  

Allowances are applied to trade and other receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances 

may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where 

the expected outcome is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of trade and other 

receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

	 The accounting policies used by the Group have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 

statements.

2.3 	 Functional and foreign currency 

	 Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that best reflects 

the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (“the functional currency”). 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are presented in Renminbi, 

which is the Company’s presentation currency and the functional currency of the principal operating subsidiaries of the 

Group. The functional currency of the Company is Singapore dollars.
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2.3 	 Functional and foreign currency (cont’d)

	 Conversion of foreign currencies 

	 Monetary items

	 Foreign currency monetary items are translated into the functional currency of the Group at rates of exchange closely 

approximating those ruling at balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at rates closely 

approximating those ruling at transaction dates.  Except for the situation described below, exchange differences arising 

from such transactions are recorded in the income statement in the period in which they arise.

	 Where a monetary item in substance forms part of the Company’s net investment in the foreign subsidiaries and 

associates, exchange differences arising on such a monetary item are recorded directly to exchange fluctuation reserve to 

the extent that the net investment is represented by net assets in the foreign entity until the disposal of the investments 

when the exchange differences that were recorded in equity is recognised in the income statement.

	 Non-monetary items 

	 Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the 

date when the fair values are determined. Currency translation differences on non-monetary items, whereby the gains 

or losses are recognised in the income statement, such as equity investments held at fair value through profit or loss or 

investment properties carried at fair value, are reported as part of the fair value gains or losses in “other gains/losses - 

net”.

	 Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currencies classified as available-for-sale are 

analysed into currency translation differences on the amortised cost of the securities, and other changes. Currency 

translation differences on the amortised cost are recognised in the income statement, and other changes are recognised 

in fair value reserve within equity.

	 Currency translation differences on other non-monetary items whereby the gains or losses are recognised directly in 

equity, such as property, plant and equipment are included in the asset revaluation reserve. Non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

	 Group entities

	 The results and financial position of all the entities within the Group that have a functional currency different from the 

presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)	 Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the date of the balance sheet;

(ii)	 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates; and

(iii)	 All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve in equity.
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2.4 	C onsolidation

	 The financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 
the end of the financial year. Information on its subsidiaries is given in Note 20.  

	
	 All inter-company balances and significant inter-company transactions and resulting unrealised profits or losses are 

eliminated on consolidation and the consolidated financial statements reflect external transactions and balances only. 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included or excluded from the consolidated 
income statement from the effective date in which control is transferred to the Group or in which control ceases,  
respectively.

	 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of 
any minority interest.  

	 Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities represents goodwill. The goodwill is accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy for goodwill stated below.

	 Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 
the cost of business combination is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date of acquisition.

	 Where accounting policies of a subsidiary do not conform with those of the Company, adjustments are made on 
consolidation when the amounts involved are considered significant to the Group.

	 Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group. They are 
presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately from the parent shareholders’ equity, and are 
separately disclosed in the consolidated profit and loss account.

	 The losses applicable to the minority in a subsidiary may exceed the minority interest in the equity of the subsidiary. The 
excess and any further losses applicable to the minority, are charged against the majority interest except to the extent 
that the minority has a binding obligation to, and is able to make good the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports 
profits, the majority interest is allocated all such profits until the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the 
majority has been recouped.

2.5 	S ubsidiaries

	 For consolidation purposes, a subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether there 
is control. 

	 Shares in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for any impairment losses on an individual subsidiary basis. 
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of 
minority interest.
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2.6 	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

	 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if 

any. Depreciation is computed utilising the straight-line method to write off the cost of these assets over their estimated 

useful lives as follows:

			 

	 Office equipment	 3 to 5 years

	 Motor vehicles	 5 years

	 Computers	 3 to 5 years

	 The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 

items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if 

the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset. Cost 

may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases 

of property, plant and equipment.

	 Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that have been recognised is added to the carrying 

amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the standard of performance of the 

asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the Group and the cost can be reliably measured.  Other subsequent 

expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial year in which it is incurred.

	 When an asset is revalued, any increase in the carrying amount is credited directly to revaluation surplus unless it reverses 

a previous revaluation decrease relating to the same asset which was previously recognised as an expense. In these 

circumstances the increase is recognised as income to the extent of the previous write down.

	 For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year, depreciation is provided from the month of acquisition and to the 

month before disposal respectively. Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the books of accounts 

until they are no longer in use.

	 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed yearly.

2.7 	I nvestment properties 

	 Investment properties include those portions of office buildings that are held for long term rental yields and/or for 

capital appreciation and land under operating leases that are held for long-term capital appreciation or for a currently 

indeterminate use, and where an insignificant portion is held for the group’s own occupation.

	 Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at fair value, determined annually 

by independent professional valuers on an existing use basis. Changes in fair values are recognised in the income 

statement.

	 Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major renovations 

and improvements is capitalised as addition and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are written off to the 

income statement. The cost of maintenance, repairs and minor improvement is charged to the income statement when 

incurred. 
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2.7 	I nvestment properties (cont’d)

	 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is 

permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  On disposal or retirement 

of an investment property, the difference between any disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in the 

income statement.

	 Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by ending of owner-

occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of construction or development. Transfers  

are made from investment properties when and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the commencement of 

owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell.

2.8 	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business 

combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. 

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed 

for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 

be impaired.

2.9 	 Financial assets

	 Financial assets can be divided into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to 

maturity investments, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. Financial assets are assigned to the 

different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the investments were 

acquired. The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated and classification may be changed at the reporting date with 

the exception that the designation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is not revocable.

	 All financial assets are recognised on their trade date - the date on which the Company and the Group commit to 

purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs 

except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value.

	 Derecognition of financial instruments occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments expire or 

are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. An assessment for 

impairment is undertaken at least at each balance sheet date whether or not there is objective evidence that a financial 

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

	 Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognised in profit or loss 

when received, regardless of how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.

	 The Group does not hold any financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity investment or available 

for sale financial assets.
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2.9 	 Financial assets (cont’d)

	 Loans and receivables

	 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention 
of trading the receivables.  They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date.  These are classified as non-current assets.

	 Loans and receivables include trade and other receivables. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. If there is objective evidence that the asset has been impaired, 
the financial asset is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the 
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have 
been had the impairment not been recognised. The impairment or write back is recognised in the income statement.

2.10 	I mpairment of financial assets 

	 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is 
impaired.  

	 Assets carried at amortised cost

	 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

	 When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly or if an 
amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written off against the 
carrying value of the financial asset. 

	 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the 
Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default 
or significant delay in payments. 

	 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent 
that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is 
recognised in the income statement. 

	 Assets carried at cost

	 If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where the issuer operates, 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets 
carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 
financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods. 
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2.11 	 Development properties

	 Development properties are properties being constructed or developed for future sale. Cost of property in the course of 

development comprises land cost, development costs and borrowing costs capitalised during the development period. 

When completed, the units held for sale are classified as development properties. 

	 Unsold development properties

	 Completed properties for sale but remaining unsold at year end are stated at lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is 

determined by apportionment of the total land cost, development costs and borrowing costs capitalised attributable to 

the unsold properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to sale proceeds of properties sold in ordinary course 

of business less all estimated selling expenses, or by management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.

	 Sold development properties

	 Revenue from properties developed for sale is recognised when the legal title passes to the buyer or when the equitable 

interest in the property vest in the buyer upon release on the handover notice of the respective property to the buyer, 

whichever is the earlier. Payments received from buyers prior to this stage are recorded as advances from customers for 

sales of properties and is classified as current liabilities.

2.12 	L and for development

	 Land for development is land held for future sale in the ordinary course of business. Cost comprises the cost of land use 

rights, borrowing cost and other costs directly attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition necessary for 

it to be ready for development. Land for development is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

2.13 	C ash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits. 

	 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts which are 

repayable on demand and which form an integral part of cash management.

2.14 	 Financial liabilities 

	 The Company’s and the Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, provisions, trade and other payables at balance 

sheet date.

	 Financial liabilities are recognised when the Company and the Group become a party to the contractual agreements of the 

instrument. All interest related charges are recognised as an expense in “finance cost” in the income statement. Financial 

liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s obligation specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

	 Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value of proceeds received less attributable transaction costs, if any.  Borrowings 

are subsequently stated at amortised cost which is the initial fair value less any principal repayments. Any difference 

between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is taken to the income statement over the 

period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. The interest expense is chargeable on the amortised cost 

over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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2.14 	 Financial liabilities (cont’d)

	 Gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 

amortisation process.

	

	 Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the balance sheet are included in current borrowings 

in the balance sheet even though the original terms was for a period longer than twelve months and an agreement to 

refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is completed after the balance sheet date. Borrowings due to 

be settled more than twelve months after the balance sheet date are included in non-current borrowings in the balance 

sheet.

2.15 	 Provisions 

	 Provisions are recognised when the Company and the Group have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Present obligations arising from onerous 

contracts are recognised as provisions.

	 The directors review the provisions annually and where in their opinion, the provision is inadequate or excessive, due 

adjustment is made.

	 If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pretax rate that reflects, 

where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 

passage of the time is recognised as finance costs.

2.16 	 Borrowing costs 

	 Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred except to the extent that they are capitalised.  

Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 

qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended 

use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the 

assets are ready for their intended use or sale. 

2.17 	L eases

	 Finance leases

	 Where assets are financed by lease agreements that give rights approximating to ownership, the assets are capitalised as if 

they had been purchased outright at values equivalent to the lower of the fair values of the leased assets and the present 

value of the total minimum lease payments during the periods of the leases. The corresponding lease commitments 

are included under liabilities. The excess of lease payments over the recorded lease obligations are treated as finance 

charges which are amortised over each lease to give a constant effective rate of charge on the remaining balance of the 

obligation.
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2.17 	L eases (cont’d)

	 Operating leases

	 Rentals on operating leases are charged to income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Lease incentives, 

if any, are recognised as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset. Penalty payments 

on early termination, if any, are recognised in the income statement when incurred.

	 Where the Group is the lessor,

	 Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties and are stated at revalued amounts and 

not depreciated.  Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease 

terms.

	 Where the Group is the lessee,

	 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease 

terms.

2.18 	S hare capital 

	 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary shares are 

deducted against the share capital account. 

2.19 	 Dividends 

	 Final dividends proposed by the directors are not accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained 

profit, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.  When these dividends have been approved 

by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

	 Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the articles of association of the Company grant the 

directors the authority to declare interim dividends.  Consequently, interim dividends are recognised directly as a liability 

when they are proposed and declared.

2.20 	I ncome taxes

	 The liability method of tax effect accounting is adopted by the Company and the Group.  Current taxation is provided at 

the current taxation rate based on the tax payable on the income for the financial year that is chargeable to tax. Deferred 

taxation is provided at the current taxation rate on all temporary differences existing at the balance sheet date between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences (unless the deferred tax liability arises from 

goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time 

of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss).  Deferred income tax is provided on 

all temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.20 	I ncome taxes (cont’d)

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised (unless the deferred 
tax asset arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss).

	 The statutory tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date are used to determine deferred income tax.

2.21 	 Revenue

	 Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the purchaser. No 
revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs 
or the possible return of the goods.

	 Sale of properties
	
	 Revenue arising from sale of properties is recognised upon the properties have been delivered and the legal title has been 

passed to the purchasers and collectability of related receivables is reasonably assured.  

	 Rental income

	 Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate 
costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease terms on a straight-
line basis. 

	 Interest income
	
	 Interest income is recognised on a time-apportioned basis using the effective interest method.

	 Consultancy fee income
	
	 Consultancy fee income is recognised when services are rendered.

2.22 	S tatutory Common Reserve

	 Statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from profit after taxation of the subsidiaries incorporated in the 
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) in accordance with the PRC requirement. The statutory reserve cannot be reduced 
except where approval is obtained from the relevant PRC authority to apply the amount either in setting off the 
accumulated losses or increasing capital.

2.23 	E mployee benefits

	 Pension obligations

	 The Company and the Group participate in the defined contribution national pension schemes as provided by the laws of 
the countries in which it has operations. In particular, the Singapore incorporated companies in the Group contribute to 
the Central Provident Fund, a defined contribution plan regulated and managed by the Government of Singapore, which 
applies to the majority of the employees. The contributions to national pension schemes are charged to the income 
statement in the period to which the contributions relate.
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2.23 	E mployee benefits (cont’d)

	 Pension obligations (cont’d)

	 Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group (“PRC subsidiaries”) have 
participated in central pension schemes (“the Schemes”) operated by local municipal governments whereby the PRC 
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of their employees to the Schemes to fund 
their retirement benefits. The local municipal governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all 
existing and future retired employees of the PRC subsidiaries. The only obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to 
the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the Schemes mentioned above. Contributions under the 
Schemes are charged to the profit and loss statement as incurred.

	 Employee leave entitlements

	 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  Accrual is made for the unconsumed 
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

2.24 	 Finance cost

	 Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method, except to the extent 
that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its intended use or sale.

 
2.25 	I mpairment of non-financial assets

	 The carrying amounts of the Company’s and Group’s non-financial assets subject to impairment are reviewed at each 
balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.  

	
	 If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the assets belong will be identified.

	 For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash-generating units).  As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested 
at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the company at which management 
controls the related cash flows.

	 Individual assets or cash-generating units that include goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or 
those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets or cash-generating 
units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. 

	 An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell 
and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation.  Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating 
units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining 
impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all 
assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. 
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2.25 	I mpairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

	 Any impairment loss is charged to the income statement unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it is 

charged to equity. 

	 With the exception of goodwill,

(a)	 An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 

amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for the asset no longer exists or 

decreases.

(b)	 An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(c)	 A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the heading revaluation 

surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously recognised 

as an expense in the income statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is recognised as income in the income 

statement.

	 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed, even if it relates to impairment loss recognised in an interim 

period that would have been reduced or avoided had the impairment assessment been made at a subsequent reporting 

balance sheet. 

2.26 	 Financial instruments

	 Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, financial assets and financial 

liabilities. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with 

each item. These instruments are recognised when contracted for.

	 Disclosures on financial risk management objectives and policies are provided in Note 24.
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3	 Property, plant and equipment

Group Office equipment Motor vehicles Computers Total
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Cost: 
At 1 January 2007 591,318 4,415,909 373,016 5,380,243
	 Additions 16,500 2,149,776 - 2,166,276
At 31 December 2007 607,818 6,565,685 373,016 7,546,519
	 Acquisition of subsidiary 330,804 167,562 23,731 522,097
	 Additions 62,931 746,465 45,333 854,729
	 Reclassification 169,558 - (169,558) -
At 31 December 2008 1,171,111 7,479,712 272,522 8,923,345

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2007 472,680 2,795,353 254,088 3,522,121
	 Depreciation 15,996 689,458 27,802 733,256
At 31 December 2007 488,676 3,484,811 281,890 4,255,377
	 Exchange difference on  translation -                  - (39) (39)
	 Depreciation 36,984    863,159 18,511 918,654
	 Reclassification 150,391               - (150,391) -
At 31 December 2008 676,051 4,347,970 149,971 5,173,992

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2008 495,060 3,131,742 122,551 3,749,353
At 31 December 2007 119,142 3,080,874 91,126 3,291,142

Company Office equipment Motor vehicles Computers Total
RMB RMB RMB RMB

Cost: 
At 1 January 2007 6,483,362 5,431,238 - 11,914,600
	 Additions - 3,483,386 - 3,483,386
	 Disposal - (2,213,254) - (2,213,254)
At 31 December 2007 6,483,362 6,701,370 - 13,184,732
	 Disposal * (6,483,362) (6,701,370) - (13,184,732)
	 Additions - - 17,308 17,308
At 31 December 2008 - - 17,308 17,308

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2007 5,108,965 4,412,288 - 9,521,253
   Depreciation 104,282 649,394 - 753,676
   Disposal - (1,929,022) - (1,929,022)
At 31 December 2007 5,213,247 3,132,660 - 8,345,907
	 Disposal * (5,213,247) (3,132,660) - (8,345,907)
	 Depreciation - - 1,112 1,112
At 31 December 2008 - - 1,112 1,112

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2008 - - 16,196 16,196
At 31 December 2007 1,270,115 3,568,710 - 4,838,825

* This is relating to business transfer agreement in Note 19
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4	I nvestment properties

Group 

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

Balance sheet: 

At 1 January  1,330,407,000 488,658,581

Additions - 7,032,383

Fair value (loss) / gain recognised in the income statement (50,458,000) 834,716,036

Net carrying amount at 31 December 1,279,949,000 1,330,407,000

Income statement: 

Rental income 30,868,244 39,969,394

Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that 

	 generated rental income (4,365,000) -

Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that did not generate 

rental income (3,907,526) (4,496,825)
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4	I nvestment properties (cont’d)

(a)	 The investment properties, all held by a wholly-owned subsidiary in Chongqing, PRC, comprise:

Location & 
description

Existing 
use

Area 
sq. metres	 Tenure

Southland Garden(b) Office, Commercial,

Carpark

15,725.96 The land use rights of the property have been 

granted for a term of 40 and 50 years expiring 

on 25 November 2042 and 25 November 

2052 for commercial and residential uses 

respectively.

New York New York Offices, Carpark 3,376.31 The land use rights of the property have been 

granted for a term of 40 years expiring on 16 

January 2042 for commercial use.

Min Sheng Mansion(b) Office, Carpark 9,764.03 The land use rights of the property have been 

granted for a term of 40 and 50 years expiring 

on 28 September 2033 and 28 September 

2043 for commercial and residential uses 

respectively.

Future International(b) Commercial,

Carpark, Office

83,022.40 The land use rights of the property have been 

granted for a term of 40 years expiring on 31 

March 2045 for commercial use.

Zou Rong Plaza Office, Carpark 7,005.58 The land use rights of the property have been 

granted for a term of 50 years expiring on 

3 January 2046 for commercial use.

Bashu Cambridge Commercial, 

Carpark

10,886.41 The land use rights of the property have

been granted for a term of 40 and 50 years 

expiring on 21 September 2044 and 

21 November 2054 for commercial and 

residential uses respectively.
	 						    

	 The investment properties are stated at valuation based on the professional valuation carried out by an independent 

valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited, for all investment properties on existing use basis as at December 31, 2008 

and 2007.

(b)	 Properties pledged as security 

	 These are the investment properties that are mortgaged to secure bank loans (Note 10).
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5	L and for development

Group

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

At cost:

Land for development 572,735,709 203,706,310

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year 13,856,036 15,132,552

	 Borrowing cost capitalised during the period from 13 March to 31 December 2007 was RMB12,251,099.

	 The land for development included leasehold interest in land located in Chongqing, PRC with expiry terms as follows:

Lease terms 

expiring on 

Commercial

Lu Zu Temple Project 23/01/2048

Financial Centre Project 20/12/2044

San Ya Wan Project 12/01/2045

6	 Development propertIES

	 Group

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

At cost:

Development properties 105,550,069 31,599,710

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year 9,741,255 21,686,369

	 Borrowing cost capitalised during the period from 13 March to 31 December 2007 was RMB15,348,133.

	 The development properties included leasehold interest in land located in Chongqing, PRC with expiry terms as follows:

   Lease terms expiring on

Commercial Residential

Southland Garden 25/11/2042 25/11/2052

Bashu Cambridge 21/09/2044 21/09/2054

Future International 31/03/2045 31/03/2055

New York New York 16/01/2042 -

San Ya Wan Project 12/01/2045 -
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7	Tr ade and other receivables

Group Company

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

Trade receivables:

Subsidiaries - - - 473,930

Third parties 8,651,248 14,432,276 - 10,464,374

Shareholder (1) - 75,654,564 - -

Related parties (1) - 7,490,807 - -

8,651,248 97,577,647 - 10,938,304

Other receivables:

Subsidiaries (non-trade) - - - 90,046

Rental deposits 483,466 - 483,466 23,697

GST receivables 782,349 - 782,349 -

Prepayments 114,072 - 114,072 232,226

Staff advances and allowances (2) 1,123,703 1,229,559 - -

Refundable tender deposits 1,000,000 - - -

Reimbursement expenses - 878,255 - -

Advance to sub-contractors 2,969,198 7,471,044 - -

Advance to management agents 6,500,000 - - -

Refundable deposits 281,946 - - -

Distribution of net capital from Showy 

(Shanghai) Impex Ltd (3) 1,288,343 - 1,288,343 -

Other receivables 956,821 - 129,319 -

15,499,898 9,578,858 2,797,549 345,969

Total trade and other receivables 24,151,146 107,156,505 2,797,549 11,284,273

Notes:

(1)	 Amount owing by shareholder and related parties mainly represents rental receivable in Renminbi collected on behalf 

which are interest-free and are repayable on demand.

(2)	 Advances to staff are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(3)	 The company is in its final stage of liquidation. This amount represents the amount expected to be collected after the 

completion of liquidation.

	 Trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

Renminbi 21,353,597 107,156,505 - 47,393

United States dollar - - - 473,930

Singapore dollar 2,797,549 - 2,797,549 10,762,950

24,151,146 107,156,505 2,797,549 11,284,273
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7	Tr ade and other receivables (cont’d)

	 The ageing analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

Group Company

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

Past due 0 to 3 months but not impaired 8,651,248 97,577,647 - 9,379,074

Past due 3 to 6 months but not impaired - - - 1,559,230

8,651,248 97,577,647 - 10,938,304

	 The fair value of the trade amounts owing are not individually determined as the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximate 

to fair value.

8	C ash and bank balances

Group Company

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

Cash in transit (1) 3,276,445 - - -

Cash and cash equivalents 78,705,068 21,309,428 25,860,137 76,388,037

Total cash and cash equivalents 81,981,513 21,309,428 25,860,137 76,388,037

Cash at bank – restricted (2) 18,159,921 12,091,948 - -

100,141,434 33,401,376 25,860,137 76,388,037

Notes:

(1)	 Cash in transit is money relating to capital contribution but is received after year end.  

(2)	 This relates to money restricted by banks from withdrawals in case of default payment by customers.

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

2008
RMB

2007
RMB

Singapore dollar 29,706,492 8,245 25,856,580 76,146,333

United States dollar 33,589,405 - 3,557 241,704

Renminbi 36,845,537 33,393,131 - -

100,141,434 33,401,376 25,860,137 76,388,037
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9	T axation

Group

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Current taxation 12,590,540 14,115,469

Deferred taxation (12,755,901) 203,290,746

(165,361) 217,406,215

	 The tax expenses on the results of the financial year vary from the amount of income tax determined by applying the PRC 

statutory rate of income tax on profit as a result of the following:

Group

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Profit before taxation 355,401,869 897,499,919

Tax at PRC statutory rate of 25% (2007:33%) 88,850,467 296,174,973

Adjustment:

Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 29,682,390 -

Tax effect on non-taxable income (121,348,960) (7,112,506)

Difference in tax rates used for corporate profits and fair value gain 

	 on investment properties - (65,053,040)

Difference in foreign tax rates 1,305,601 -

Deferred tax assets on temporary difference not recognised 3,195,312 -

Others (1,850,171) (6,603,212)

(165,361) 217,406,215

	 Subject to agreement with the relevant tax authorities, the Group has unabsorbed tax losses of RMB18,003,651 (2007 - Nil) 

available for offset against future taxable profits provided that the provisions of relevant countries’ tax legislations are complied 

with. The related tax benefits of RMB3,195,312 (2007 - Nil) have not been recognised in the financial statements.

	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current 

tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority. The amounts determined after appropriate 

offsetting are included in the balance sheets as follows:

Group

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Balance at beginning   203,290,746 -

Temporary difference for fair value (loss) / gain on investment properties (12,755,901) 203,290,746

Under provision for fair value gain on  investment properties in prior year 141,402 -

190,676,247 203,290,746

	 The balance comprises mainly tax on temporary differences relating to the fair value gain/(loss) on the investment properties.
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10	b orrowings

Group Company

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Amount repayable within one year

- Bank loans 28,170,000 256,340,000 - -

- Finance lease obligation - - - 37,914

28,170,000 256,340,000 - 37,914

Amount repayable after one year

- Bank loans 269,250,000 213,140,000 - -

297,420,000 469,480,000 - 37,914

At fixed rates 115,000,000 281,340,000 - 37,914

At floating rates 182,420,000 188,140,000 - -

297,420,000 469,480,000 - 37,914

	 The loans are secured by:

(a)	 mortgage of the investment properties (Note 4);

(b)	 fixed and floating charges on assets of the subsidiaries.

	 Bank loans have an effective interest rate ranging from 6.1% to 9.5%. Interest rates are repriced every 12 months.

	 Current bank loan are repayable within 12 months, and non-current bank loans are repayable in 2 to 13 years.

	 Bank borrowings are denominated in Renminbi.

	 Interest rates are repriced every 12 months for those on floating rate.

	 The fair values of the fixed rate loans are determined from the discounted cash flows analysis, using a discount rate based upon 

the borrowing rate which the directors expect would be available to the Group at the balance sheet date. No adjustment has been 

made to fair values as the differences between the carrying amounts and fair values are not significant to the Group.

Group Company

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Fixed rate bank loans 115,000,000 281,340,000 - 37,914

Fair value 114,530,699 281,002,392 - 37,914
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11	Tr ade and other payables

Group Company

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Trade payables:

Subsidiaries - - - 4,677,689

Third parties 103,016,980 26,755,517 - 4,862,522

103,016,980 26,755,517 - 9,540,211

Other payables:

Subsidiaries (non-trade) - - 128,273,868 -

Accrued expenses 7,630,112 - 7,286,260 4,075,615

Provision for construction cost - 57,670,338 - -

Note payables (a) - 550,000 - -

Advances from customers 44,946,994 38,367,677 - -

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) payables 4,914,109 21,172,730 - -

Business and other tax payables 7,860,725 7,624,622 - -

Rental and option deposits 14,019,771 26,777,421 - -

Other creditors – professional fees 19,746,558 - 19,746,558 -

Others 5,996,450 - 7,597 -

105,114,719 152,162,788 155,314,283 4,075,615

Total trade and other payables 208,131,699 178,918,305 155,314,283 13,615,826

	 Notes:

(a)	 Note payables are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

	 Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Singapore dollar 19,563,684 - 19,563,686 8,838,613

Renminbi 181,091,286 178,918,305 - -

Hong Kong dollar 166,021 - 166,021 -

Malaysian ringgit - - - 75,829

United States dollar 7,310,708 - 135,584,576 4,701,384

208,131,699 178,918,305 155,314,283 13,615,826

	 The carrying amounts of current trade and other payables approximated their fair values as at the balance sheet dates.

12	Am ount owing to a director

	 The amount owing to a director is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on demand.
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13	C apital contribution

Group

No. of ordinary shares Amount

2008 2007

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Issued and fully paid:

Balance at beginning of year

	 - Fortune Court Holdings Ltd n.m. n.m. 10,738 10,738

	 - Ying Li International Real Estate Ltd 127,000,000 n.m. 78,751,179 -

Issue of shares 1,655,149,429 n.m. 2,588,169,848 -

Share issue expenses - n.m. (29,249,723) -

1,782,149,429 n.m. 2,637,682,042 10,738

Company

No. of ordinary shares Amount

2008 2007

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Issued and fully paid:

Balance at beginning of year

  - Fortune Court Holdings Ltd n.m. n.m. 10,738 10,738

  - Ying Li International Real Estate Limited 127,000,000 61,000,000 78,751,179 27,833,909

Issue of shares 1,655,149,429 66,000,000 2,588,169,848 51,600,241

Share issue expenses - - (29,249,723) (682,971)

1,782,149,429 127,000,000 2,637,682,042 78,761,917

	 n.m.  – The post reverse takeover group did not exist in 2007. It is therefore not meaningful to show the comparative figures.

	 All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.

	 During the financial year, the Company issued 1,652,714,429 ordinary shares with a fair value of RMB1.563969 (S$0.33) each and 
2,435,000 ordinary shares with a fair value of RMB1.38633 (S$0.30) each, being the published prices of the shares at the dates of 
exchange to the vendor. The Company issued the new shares to provide funds for the expansion of the Group’s operations.

 

14	 Revenue

Group

1 Jan to
 31 Dec 2008

RMB

13 Mar to 
31 Dec 2007
(Unaudited  
pro-forma)

RMB 

1 Jan to 
31 Dec 2007
(Unaudited  
pro-forma)

RMB

Sales of properties 55,856,115 60,265,712 205,960,505

Rental income 30,868,244 30,367,528 39,969,394

86,724,359 90,633,240 245,929,899
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15	O ther income
		

                         Group

1 Jan to 
31 Dec 2008

RMB

13 Mar to
31 Dec 2007
(Unaudited 
 pro-forma)

RMB 

1 Jan to 
31 Dec 2007
(Unaudited  
pro-forma)

RMB

Consultancy fees  35,625,000                        -  -

Over-provision of Land Appreciation Tax in prior years 13,939,335 - -

Interest income 545,982 13,133 13,133

Negative goodwill (Note 20) 485,395,842 - -

Others 4,378,799 - -

539,884,958 13,133 13,133

16	O ther operating expenses
		

Group

1 Jan to 

31 Dec 2008

RMB

13 Mar to

 31 Dec 2007

(Unaudited  

pro-forma)

RMB 

1 Jan to 

31 Dec 2007

(Unaudited  

pro-forma)

RMB

Write off of goodwill on reverse acquisition 109,372,659                         -  -

Donation for Sichuan earthquake 10,400,000 - -

Others 5,624,163 - -

125,396,822 - -
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17	 Profit before taxation

Group

                                                                              

Note

1 Jan to 
31 Dec 2008

RMB

13 Mar to 
31 Dec 2007
(Unaudited    
pro-forma)

RMB 

1 Jan to 
31 Dec 2007
(Unaudited  
pro-forma)

RMB

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment         3 918,654 397,173 733,256

Bad debts written off 151,377 201,414 201,414

Exchange loss 4,970,162 - -

Fair value (gains)/losses on:

-	investment properties                                           4 50,458,000 (834,716,036) (834,716,036)

Staff costs:

Directors’ remuneration other than fee

-	salaries and related cost 337,123 - -

Directors’ fees 430,045 - -

Key management personnel (other than directors):

- Salaries, wages and other related costs 300,874 - -

- Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans 

including the Central Provident Fund, Singapore 61,822 - -

Other than directors and key management personnel:

- Salaries, wages and other related costs 3,069,582 4,011,587 5,867,945

- Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans 

including the Central Provident fund, Singapore 940,053 269,892 394,785
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18	E arnings per share

	 The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the 

following:

Group

1 Jan to

 31 Dec 2008

RMB

13 Mar to

 31 Dec 2007

(Unaudited  

pro-forma)

RMB 

1 Jan to 

31 Dec 2007

(Unaudited 

 pro-forma)

RMB

Basic earnings per share 0.63 n.m. n.m.
Diluted earnings per share 0.63 n.m. n.m.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 357,438,609 659,431,584 680,093,704

Number of Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic 

and diluted earnings per share 565,486,843 n.m. n.m.

n.m. – The post reverse takeover group did not exist in 2007. It is therefore not meaningful to show the comparative figures.

19	 Disposal of assets and liabilities

	 The Company entered into a Business Transfer Agreement on 7 July 2008 to effect the disposal of the Group’s existing business  

of bathroom, kitchen products and accessories in its entirety to Showy Pte Ltd for a cash consideration of RMB22,168,959 

(SGD4,664,203), determined on a willing-seller and willing-buyer basis, based on the fair value of the Group’s assets and 

liabilities.

RMB
Net assets disposed
Property, plant and equipment 5,940,947
Trade receivables 8,314,656
Cash and cash equivalents 9,506,000
Inventories 6,517,119
Trade payables (7,667,017)
Income tax payables (442,746)

22,168,959
Proceeds from disposal of assets and liabilities 22,168,959
Gain on disposal of assets and liabilities -

Proceeds from disposal of assets and liabilities 22,168,959

Cash and cash equivalents disposed (9,506,000)

Net cash received from disposal 12,662,959
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20	I nvestment in subsidiaries

Company

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Quasi-equity loan (1) - 16,980,912

Unquoted equity investment, at cost 2,768,750,572 1,639,798

Less allowance for impairment - (5,274,841)

2,768,750,572 13,345,869

	 The subsidiaries are:

Name
Company of 
incorporation

Principal 
activities

Cost of 
investment    

Percentage 
of equity held        

(RMB) (%)

2008 2007 2008 2007

Held by the Company

Fortune Court Holdings 
Ltd (2)

Hong Kong Investment 
holding

2,584,794,135 - 100         -

Chongqing Yingli Real 
Estate Development Co., 
Ltd (2)

China Property 
developer

183,956,437 - 43.65      -

Showy (Shanghai) 
	 Impex Ltd

China Under 
liquidation

- 1,639,787 - 100

Showy Overseas Pte. Ltd. Singapore Disposed of -              11 - 100

2,768,750,572 1,639,798

Held by Showy 
	 Overseas Pte. Ltd.

Showy Industrial Co. 
(Ningbo) Ltd

China Disposed of - 16,739,208 - 100

Held by Fortune 
	 Court Holdings Ltd

Chongqing Yingli Real 
Estate Development Co., 
Ltd  (2)

China Property 
developer

216,237,761 - 52.96 -

Held by Chongqing 
	 Yingli Real Estate 

Development Co., Ltd

Chongqing San Ya Wan 
Aquatic Products 
Integrative Trading 
Market Development 
Co., Ltd (2)

China Property 
developer

100,500,000 - 80 -
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20	I nvestment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(1) 	 This loan is an interest free quasi-equity loan from the Company to Showy Overseas Pte. Ltd. and it is not expected to be 
repaid in the foreseeable future. 

(2)	 Audited by Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton for consolidation purposes

	 During the year, Fortune Court acquired Chongqing Yingli Real Estate Development Co., Ltd (Chongqing Yingli), and

	 Chongqing Yingli in turn acquired Chongqing San Ya Wan Aquatic Products Integrative Trading Market Development Co., Ltd (San 
Ya Wan).

	 The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed all of the Group’s profit for the year. If acquisition had occurred on 1 January 
2008, Group’s revenue and profit would have been RMB108,221,176 and RMB373,515,904. The subsidiary’s assets and liabilities 
at 31 December 2008 were RMB2,041,438,693 and RMB749,710,993 respectively.

	 The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries as at the date of acquisition are as follows:

	

The Group Acquisition 

Chongqing Yingli

The Group Acquisition

 San Ya Wan

At 

fair value

RMB

At 

carrying amount

RMB

At 

fair value

RMB

At

carrying amount

RMB

Net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment 3,084,069 3,084,069 522,097 522,097

Investment properties 1,330,407,000 1,330,407,000 - -

Land for development 246,147,837 246,147,837 194,706,798 101,081,798

Development properties 29,543,661 29,543,661 - -

Trade and other receivables 37,472,637 37,472,637 64,813,906 64,813,906

Amount owing by shareholder 75,755,517 75,755,517 - -

Amount owing by related parties 9,120,532 9,120,532 - -

Cash at bank - restricted 11,359,221 11,359,221 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 150,092,508 150,092,508 2,208,223 2,208,223

Deferred tax (203,290,746) (203,290,746) - -

Bank borrowings (396,307,502) (396,307,502) (90,000,000) (90,000,000)

Deferred capital grants - - (200,001) (200,001)

Trade and other payables (200,855,410) (200,855,410) (46,487,636) (46,487,636)

Provision for taxation (58,835,429) (58,835,429) 61,613 61,613

Net assets of the subsidiary 1,033,693,895 1,033,693,895 125,625,000 32,000,000

Net assets attributable to Fortune Court 694,804,364 -

Net assets attributable to Chongqing Yingli - 100,500,000

Purchase consideration 209,408,522 100,500,000

Negative goodwill on consolidation (485,395,842) -

Purchase consideration 209,408,522 100,500,000

Cash and bank balances in subsidiary acquired (150,092,508) (2,208,223)

Net cash used in acquisition        59,316,014       98,291,777

Total net cash used in acquisition 157,607,791 -
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21	 Related party transactions

	 In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following are significant 

transactions with related parties:

Group

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Rental income received from related party at mutually agreed rates 403,812 3,349,629

	 The related party is an entity that is directly controlled by common shareholders of the Company.

         

22	Op erating Lease Commitments

(A) 	 Where Company and Group are the lessees

	 At the balance sheet date, the Company and the Group were committed to making the following rental payments in 

respect of operating leases of office premises with an original term of more than one year:

		

Company/Group

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Not later than one year 1,432,374 246,444

Later than one year and not later than five years 3,995,570 981,035

Later than five years - 1,388,615

5,427,944 2,616,094
		

	 The leases on the Company’s and the Group’s office premises on which rentals are payable will expire on 15 March 2012, 

subject to an option to renew for another 3 years at the prevailing market rent.

(B) 	 Where Company and Group are the lessors

	 At the balance sheet date, the Group had the following rental income under lease for commercial premises with a term 

of more than one year:

Group

2008

RMB

2007

RMB

Not later than one year 42,952,965      41,529,193

Later than one year and not later than five years 162,776,720 159,609,570

Later than five years 453,849,743 493,081,203

659,579,428 694,219,966

	 The leases on the Group’s commercial premises on which rentals are received will expire from 2009 to 2026 with renewals 

at the then prevailing rates.
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23	S tatement of operations by segments
		

	 The Group

	 Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The primary format (business 

segments) is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure. Secondary information is not presented as 

the Group’s principal activities and assets are principally located in the People’s Republic of China. The operating businesses are 

organised and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing 

a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.

	 Inter-segment pricing is determined on mutually agreed terms.

	 Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 

reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly investments (other than investment properties) and related revenue, loans 

and expenses, corporate assets and head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.

	 Business segments

	 The Group comprises the following main business segments:

-	 Property development segment is involved in the development and sale of office, commercial and residential properties

-	 Property investment is involved in properties held for rental yields

	 The following table presents assets, liabilities and other segment information regarding the Group’s business segments as at years 

ended 31 December.

2008 2007

Property 

Rental

RMB

Property 

Development

RMB

Total

RMB

Property 

Rental

RMB

Property 

Development

RMB

Total

RMB

ASSETS

Segment assets 1,289,427,603 692,941,756 1,982,369,359 1,344,354,858 239,567,384 1,583,922,242

Unallocated assets - - 103,907,352 - - 125,639,801

Consolidated total 

assets - - 2,086,276,711 - - 1,709,562,043

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 58,708,094 298,612,060 357,320,154 18,330,699 586,634,679 604,965,378

Income tax - - 68,618,523 - - 54,648,495

Deferred tax - - 190,676,247 - - 203,290,746

Unallocated liabilities - - 160,136,482 - - 56,073,569

Consolidated total  

liabilities - - 776,751,406 - - 918,978,188

OTHER 

INFORMATION

Capital expenditure - - 854,729 - - 2,166,276

Depreciation - - 918,654 - - 733,256
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24	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

	 The Company and the Group have documented financial risk management policies. These policies set out the Company’s and the 
Group’s overall business strategies and its risk management philosophy. The Company and the Group are exposed to financial 
risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks included credit risk, liquidity risk, 
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Company’s and the Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the 
Company’s and the Group’s financial performance. 

	 There has been no change to the Company’s and the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

(i)	C redit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the Company 
or the Group to incur a financial loss. The Company’s and the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade 
and other receivables. For trade receivables, the Company and the Group adopt the policy of dealing only with customers 
of appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient security where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial 
assets, the Company and the Group adopt the policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparties. 

	 The Company’s and the Group’s objective is to seek continual growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased 

credit risk exposure.

	 The Company’s and the Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade receivables. Cash is held with 

financial institutions of good standing/established financial institutions/reputable financial institutions. Further details of 

credit risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 7.

(ii)	L iquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company or the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments 

associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to 

its fair value. 

	 The Company’s and the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial 

assets and liabilities. The Company’s and the Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding 

and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

	 The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 

payments:

2008 2007

Group

1 year 
or less 
RMB

1 to 
5 years

RMB

Over 
5 years

RMB
Total
RMB

1 year 
or less
RMB

1 to 
5 years

RMB

Over 
5 years

RMB
Total
RMB

Trade and 
	 other 
	 payables 208,131,699 - - 208,131,699 178,918,305 - - 178,918,305

Bank 
	 borrowings 28,170,000 269,250,000 - 297,420,000 256,340,000 213,140,000 - 469,480,000

236,301,699 269,250,000 - 505,551,699 435,258,305 213,140,000 - 648,398,305

	 The Group ensures that there are adequate funds to meet all its obligations in a timely and cost-effective manner. 

	 Bank loans have an effective interest rate ranging from 6.1% to 9.5%.
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24	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(iii)	I nterest rate risk

	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company’s and the Group’s financial instruments 

will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

	 The Group’s exposure to interest risk arises primarily from their bank borrowings. The Group‘s borrowings at floating rates 

are contractually repriced every 12 months.

	 Sensitivity analysis for interest risk 

	 At the balance sheet date, if RMB interest rates had been 50 (2007 – 50) basis points lower / higher with all other variables 

held constant, the Group’s profit net of tax would have been RMB 684,000 (2007 – RMB 705,000) higher / lower, arising 

mainly as a result of lower / higher interest expense on floating rate borrowings

(iv)	 Foreign currency risk

	 Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. 

	 Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in RMB which is the functional currency of most of the group entities. 

	 The Group also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working capital purposes.

	 The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided by management is as follows:

	 2008

United States 

Dollar

RMB

Hong Kong 

Dollar

RMB 

Singapore 

Dollar

RMB

Trade and other receivables - - 2,797,549

Cash and cash equivalents 33,589,405 - 29,706,492

Trade and other payables (7,310,708) (166,021) (19,563,684)

Currency exposure 26,278,697 (166,021) 12,940,357

2007 

(unaudited 

pro-forma)

Singapore 

Dollar

RMB

Cash and cash equivalents 8,245
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24	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

	 Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk 

	 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the SGD and USD exchange rates (against 

Renminbi), with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit net of tax and equity. 

Group

2008 2007

RMB(’000) RMB(’000)

Profit 

net of tax Equity

Profit 

net of tax Equity

USD - 	 strengthened 1% (2007 - 1%) 215 215 - -

- 	 weakened 1% (2007 - 1%) (215) (215) - -

HKD - 	 strengthened 1% (2007 - 1%) (1) (1) - -

- 	 weakened 1% (2007 - 1%) 1 1 - -

SGD - 	 strengthened 4% (2007 - 1%) 424 424 * *

- 	 weakened 4% (2007 - 1%) (424) (424) * *

	 * Effect on profit net of tax is less than RMB 1,000

25	 Financial instruments

	 Fair value 

	 The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year is assumed to approximate their fair 

values. 

	 The Group do not anticipate that the carrying amounts recorded at balance sheet date would be significantly different from the 

values that would eventually be received or settled.

26	C apital management

	 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(a)  	 To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern;

(b)	 To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

(c)	 To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Company’s risk management capability; and

(d)	 To provide an adequate return to shareholders

	 The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder 

returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected 

profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. The 

Group currently does not adopt any formal dividend policy.
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26	C apital management (cont’d)

	 The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity plus its subordinated loan, less cash and cash equivalents 

as presented on the face of the balance sheet.

	 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 

capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

	 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

	 The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

27  	E vents after balance sheet date

	 The Company and The Group

	 Subsequent to balance sheet date, the Company entered into a Loan and Option agreement which the Lender has agreed to 

advance the Company a loan for an aggregate amount of S$13,000,000. An Option has been granted in favour of the Lender to 

subscribe for an aggregate of up to 35,000,000 ordinary shares. The Lender can exercise the Option commencing from the date 

of disbursement of the Loan up until twelve months after the Repayment Date or 31 December 2010, whichever is later.
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STATISTIC OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 17 March 2009

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID SHARES	 :	 1,782,149,429					   

CLASS OF SHARES			   :	 ORDINARY SHARES					   

VOTING RIGHTS			   :	 ONE VOTE PER SHARE					   

									       

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

         1         -                999 0 0.00 0 0.00

  1,000         -           10,000 171 52.45 912,000 0.05

10,001         -       1,000,000 148 45.40 11,241,000 0.63

1,000,001 & ABOVE 7 2.15 1,769,996,429 99.32

TOTAL 326 100.00 1,782,149,429 100.00

							     

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 17 MARCH 2009 NO. OF SHARES %

NEWEST LUCK HOLDINGS LIMITED 941,739,014 52.84

LEAP FORWARD HOLDINGS LIMITED 509,530,634 28.59

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 215,812,000 12.11

TAN HOO LANG 29,972,391 1.68

TAN FUH GIH 29,972,390 1.68

LIM HONG CHING 25,208,000 1.41

YEO SOCK KON 17,762,000 1.00

NG KIM TECK 846,000 0.05

YEO KIANG SIANG 652,000 0.04

LIM TCHEN NAN 631,000 0.03

LIM TAI SOON 485,000 0.03

THAM YEW FANG 316,000 0.02

DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD 311,000 0.02

ONG MUN WAH 305,000 0.02

NSB (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 300,000 0.02

KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 295,000 0.02

HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 240,000 0.01

ONG CHING SHYAN ESTHER 231,000 0.01

CHEN CHEW YEN 229,000 0.01

CHUA HEE TONG 220,000 0.01

1,775,057,429 99.60

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES %

NEWEST LUCK HOLDINGS LIMITED 941,739,014 52.84

LEAP FORWARD HOLDINGS LIMITED 509,530,634 28.59

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 215,812,000 12.11

									       

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS

Based on the register of Directors’ shareholdings and the Register of Substantial Shareholders maintained by the Company as at 17 

March 2009, approximately 330,879,781 Shares, representing 18.57% of the issued Shares, are in the hands of the public.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Meeting room 201 Level 2 Suntec Singapore 

International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Tuesday 28 April 2009 at 10.00a.m. 

for the following purposes:

As Ordinary Business

1.	 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2008, together 

with the Auditor’s Report thereon.	 (Resolution 1)

2.	 To re-elect Mr Xie Xin being a Director who retires by rotation pursuant to Article 106 of the Articles of Association of the 

Company. 	 (Resolution 2)

3.	 To re-elect Mr He Zhao Ju @ Danny Ho being a Director who retires by rotation pursuant to Article 106 of the Articles of 

Association of the Company. 	 (Resolution 3)

4.	 To re-elect Mr Xiao Zu Xiu being a Director who retires by rotation pursuant to Article 106 of the Articles of Association of the 

Company. [See Explanatory Note 1]	 (Resolution 4)

5.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$212,500 for the financial year ended 31 December 2008. 	 (Resolution 5)

6.	 To re-appoint Messrs Grant Thornton as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.	

(Resolution 6)

As Special Business:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without amendments.

7.	 “SHARE ISSUE MANDATE

	

	 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 

Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

1.	 (i)	 issue shares in the capital of the Company (whether by way of bonus or otherwise); and/or

 	 (ii)	 make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “instruments”) that may or would require shares to be 

 	 issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible 

 	 into shares, at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the  

	 Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

2.	 (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance 

of any instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force,  provided that: 

	 (a)	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance 

 	 of instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the issued share capital 

 	 (excluding treasury shares) of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (c) below), of which 

 	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including  

	 shares to be issued in pursuance of instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 20% 

 	 of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub- 

	 paragraph (c) below);
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	 (b)	 the aggregate number of shares issued or issuable under this Resolution when added to the number of shares issued 

 	 or issuable pursuant to Resolution (8) below, if any, shall not exceed 100% of the issued share capital (excluding 

 	 treasury shares) of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (c) below);

	 (c)	 for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, 

 	 the percentage of issued share capital shall be calculated based on the issued share capital (excluding treasury 

 	 shares) of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

		  (i)	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

		  (ii)	 new shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at 

 		  the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance 

 		  with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and

		  (iii)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

	 (d)	 in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing 

 	 Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the 

 	 Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

	 (e)	 unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred by this Resolution shall continue 

	 in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next 

 	 Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier. [See Explanatory 

	 Note 2]								                                   

											                     (Resolution 7)

8.	A UTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES UP TO 100 PER CENTUM (100%) OF THE TOTAL NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES VIA 

A PRO-RATA RENOUNCEABLE RIGHTS ISSUE

	 That authority be given to the Directors of the Company to issue shares (“Shares”) by way of pro-rata renounceable rights issue 

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and to such persons as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit 

provided that:

(a)	 the aggregate number of shares when added to the number of shares issued or issuable pursuant to Resolution (7)

above, if any,  does not exceed one hundred per centum (100%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding 

treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution;

(b)	 for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, 

the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of shares of the 

Company (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of passing this Resolution, after adjusting for:

	

	 (i)	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertibles securities;

	 (ii)	 new shares arising from the exercising of share options or vesting of Shares awards outstanding or 

 	 subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed; and	

	 (iii)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;
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(c)	 And that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force (i) 

until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier or (ii) in the case of shares to be issued 

in accordance with the terms of convertible securities issued, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until 

the issuance of such shares in accordance with the terms of such convertible securities. [see Explanatory Note 3]

(Resolution 8)

9.	 Placement of Shares under the Share Issue Mandate at more than 10% Discount

	 THAT notwithstanding Rule 811 of the Listing Manual, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, subject to the 

grant of the Share Issue Mandate proposed to be tabled as Resolution (7) above and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 

Share Issue Mandate, to issue new shares of the Company to subscribers or placees under a share placement at a discount that 

exceeds 10% but not more than 20% to the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on 

which the placement or subscription agreement is signed. If, however, trading in the Company’s shares is not available for a full 

market day, the weighted average price shall be based on trades done on the preceding market day up to the time the placement 

agreement or subscription agreement is signed. [see Explanatory Note 4]	 (Resolution 9)

10.	 To transact any other business that may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Lim Boon Ping / Soh Chun Bin

Joint Company Secretaries

Singapore, 13 April 2009

Explanatory Notes

(1)	 Resolution 4 – Mr Xiao Zu Xiu when re-elected, will remain as Chairman and member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr 

Xiao will also remain as co-chairman of Nominating Committee and member of Audit Committee. He is an Independent Non-

Executive Director of the Company.

(2)	 Resolution 7 is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company and/or instruments (as defined above). 

The aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to Resolution 7 (including shares to be issued in pursuance of instruments 

made or granted) shall not exceed 50% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company, with a sub-limit 

of 20% for shares issued other than on a pro rata basis (including shares to be issued in pursuance of instruments made or 

granted pursuant to this Resolution) to shareholders provided that the total number of shares which may be issued pursuant to 

Resolutions (7) and (8) above shall not exceed 100% of the total issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the 

Company. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued share 

capital will be calculated based on the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company at the time of the passing 

of Resolution (7), after adjusting for:

	

(a) 	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b) 	 new shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time 

of the passing of Resolution (7), provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII 

of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and

(c) 	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.
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(3)	 Resolution 8 is to empower the Director to issue shares in the capital of the Company up to 100% (from the existing 50%) of 

its issued capital by way of a pro-rata renounceable rights issue provided that the total number of shares which may be issued 

pursuant to Resolutions (7) and (8) above shall not exceed 100% of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital 

of the Company. This is one of the new measures introduced by the Singapore Exchange Limited, in consultation with Monetary 

Authority of Singapore, on 20 February 2009 to accelerate and facilitate listed issuers’ fund raising efforts and will be in effect 

until 31 December 2010.

	 This mandate is conditional upon the Company:

(i) 	 making periodic announcements on the use of proceeds as and when the funds are materially disbursed; and

(ii) 	 providing a status report on the use of proceeds in the annual report.

	

	 This mandate, if passed, will provide the directors with an opportunity to raise funds and avoid prolonged market exposure by 

reducing the time taken for shareholders’ approval, in the event the need arises. Minority shareholders’ interests are mitigated as 

all shareholders have equal opportunities to participate and can dispose their entitlements through trading of nil-paid rights if 

they do not wish to subscribe for their rights issue. 

(4)	 Resolution 9 is to authorise the Directors to issue new shares to subscribers or placees at a discount of not more than 20% to the 

weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement 

is signed.

	 The maximum pricing discount of 20% is proposed pursuant to the SGX-ST’s news release of 19 February 2009 which introduced 

further measures to accelerate and facilitate the fund raising efforts of listed issuers.

Notes:

1.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one 

or two proxies to attend in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.	 A member of the Company which is a corporate is entitled to appoint its authorised representatives or proxies to vote on its 

behalf.

3.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Office of the Share Registrar of the Company, B.A.C.S. Private Limited 

at 63 Cantonment Road, Singapore 089758, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding of the Annual General 

Meeting.
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YING LI INTERNATIONAL REAL ESTATE LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) 
(Registration No. 199106356W) 

I/We,   	 name) 

of 	 (address) 

being a member/members of YING LI INTERNATIONAL REAL ESTATE LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint : 

Name Address
NRIC/

Passport No.
Proportion of 
Shareholdings

No. of 
Shares %

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address
NRIC/

Passport No.
Proportion of 
Shareholdings

No. of 
Shares %

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting, as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our 
behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 10.00 a.m. on Tuesday, 28 April 
2009 at Meeting room 201 Level 2 Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, 
Singapore 039593 and at any adjournment thereof. 

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolutions as set out in 
the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they may think 
fit, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting)

ORDINARY BUSINESS For Against

Resolution 1 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2008, together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. 

Resolution 2 To re-elect Mr Xie Xin, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 106 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association. 

Resolution 3 To re-elect Mr He Zhao Ju @ Danny Ho, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 106 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association.

Resolution 4 To re-elect Mr Xiao Zu Xiu, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 106 of the Company’s  Articles 
of Association.

Resolution 5 To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees for financial year ended 31 December 2008.

Resolution 6 To re-appoint Messrs Grant Thornton as Auditors. 

SPECIAL BUSINESS

Ordinary Resolution :

Resolution 7 To authorise the Directors to allot shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 
50. 

Resolution 8 To authorise the Directors to allot shares up to 100% of the total number of issued shares via a 
pro-rata renounceable rights issue.

Resolution 9 To authorise the Directors to allot shares under the share issue mandate at more than 10% 
discount. 

Total Number of Shares held in : 

Date this  day of  2009 CDP Register

Register of Members

Signature(s) of members(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT : PLEASE READ THE NOTES OVERLEAF

1.	 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in the 
capital of Ying Li International Real Estate Limited, this report is 
forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees 
and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. 	This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be 
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be 
used by them. 

PROXY FORM — ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING



NOTES :

1.	 Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of 
the Companies Act, Cap. 50), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, 
you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the 
Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares 
held by you. 

2.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or, if he/she holds two or more shares, two 
proxies to attend and vote instead of him/her. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

3.	 Where a member appoints two proxies, the member must specify the proportion of shareholdings (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented 
by each proxy. If no proportion of shareholdings is specified, the proxy whose name appears first shall be deemed to carry 100 per cent of the shareholdings of 
his/its appointor and the proxy whose name appears after shall be deemed to be appointed in the alternate. 

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Office of the Share Registrar of the Company, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 63 Cantonment 
Road, Singapore 089758 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the meeting. 

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly 
authorised. 

6.	 Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney (or other authority) or a duly 
certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be 
treated as invalid. 

7.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at 
the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50. 

General :

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions 
of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of shares 
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to 
have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The 
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.  

Office of the Share Registrar
YING LI INTERNATIONAL REAL ESTATE LIMITED

B.A.C.S Private Limited
63 Cantonment Road

Singapore 089758
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